STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ABDUL FURQUAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-002075

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the trial judge violate the Eighth Amendment's bar against cruel and unusual punishments by imposing a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole pursuant to the recidivist statute where the offense used to enhance the sentence occurred two decades before the instant crime?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Horry County grand jury indicted Appellant for burglary in the first degree (2012-GS-23-2057), attempted murder (2012-GS-26-2058), and unlawful possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a violent offense (2012-GS-26-2059) on May 24, 2012. R. 187-188; R. 190-191; R. 193-194. The state, represented by Joshua Holford, called the case for trial before the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr. and a jury on September 18, 2013. R. 1. Ryan Stampfle represented Appellant. R. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 177, lines 7-17. Judge Hyman sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for burglary in the first degree and attempted murder. He also sentenced Appellant to five years' imprisonment for the firearm. R. 183, line 9 – R. 184, line 7; R. 189; R. 192; R. 195.

Appellant filed a timely notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

The trial judge violate the Eighth Amendment's bar against cruel and unusual punishments by imposing a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole pursuant to the recidivist statute where the offense used to enhance the sentence occurred two decades before the instant crime.

Relevant facts

On October 16, 2011, Taylor Smith picked up Appellant, Jeremy Fleming, Tyler Topolski, and Samantha Topolski. R. 21, line 19 – R. 22, line 7; R. 32, line 20 – R. 33, line 14; R. 50, lines 7-18. The group drove to the Ivystone Apartments. R. 22, lines 8-10; R. 33, lines 23-25; R. 52, lines 1-3; R. 54, lines 6-8. Some testified the purpose of the trip was for Jeremy to get money that was owed to him while others testified the purpose of the trip was for the purchase of marijuana. R. 22, lines 2-3; R. 32, lines 24-25; R. 33, line 6; R. 34, lines 19-22; R. 44, lines 13-20; R. 52, lines 4-6; R. 56, line 24 – R. 57, line 8; R. 110, lines 19-22; R. 114, lines 23-24. Tyler, Samantha, and Taylor stayed in the car while Appellant and Jeremy went into the apartment complex. R. 22, lines 10-22; R. 34, lines 6-18; R. 35, lines 5-7; R. 42, lines 17-22; R. 52, lines 9-11; R. 54, lines 9-14; R. 58, lines 16-25. Jeremy was wearing gloves with skulls on them. R. 23, lines 3-7; R. 29, lines 10-22; R. 45, lines 14-21; R. 115, lines 11-14.

Eric Collins and David Moran shared an apartment at Ivystone. R. 126, lines 8-11; R. 13, lines 16-20. On the evening of October 16, 2011, Eric was in his room taking a nap. R. 13, line 21 – R. 14, lines 4. Moran heard a knock at his door. R. 127, lines 5-13. Unable to see through his peephole because the lights in the hallway were not functioning, Moran opened his door to determine who had knocked. R. 127, lines 14-23. He saw two men

wearing bandanas standing outside his door. R. 127, lines 23-25; R. 128, lines 19-20; R. 130, lines 14-17; R. 130, lines 22-23. He tried to shut the door, but one of the men got his foot inside the door and prevented the closure. While Moran tried to shut the door, one of the men punched him. R. 128, lines 1-7; R. 129, lines 6-7. Moran stumbled backward. R. 128, line 7. When Moran opened his eyes he saw a man standing over him with a silver revolver. He heard a pop. R. 128, lines 7-11. Moran's next memory was of sitting in the emergency room. R. 129, lines 9-22. Moran had been shot in the head. R. 128, lines 12-13; R. 130, lines 2-7.

Eric heard a "sound [like] a light bulb makes when it pops," only "four times louder." R. 14, lines 4-6. He woke up, grabbed his rifle, and walked toward the living room. R. 14, lines 6-11. Eric saw two males standing in the doorway. R. 14, lines 11-12. He saw one of the men had a gun pointing in the general direction of Moran. R. 14, lines 23-17. When the two males saw Eric, they ran. R. 14, lines 20-22. Eric was unable to identify the men because they wore hoodies and bandanas. R. 14, lines 18-19; R. 15, lines 3-6; R. 17, line 23 – R. 18, line 5; R. 18, lines 18-23. Because Eric arrived after the shot was fired, he could not say the individuals he saw in his home had fired the shot at Moran. R. 20, lines 3-9.

Appellant and Jeremy ran back to the car where Tyler, Samantha, and Taylor sat waiting.¹ R. 23, lines 17-21; R. 24, lines 17-21; R. 36, lines 3-6; R. 36, line 22 – R. 37, line

¹ Jeremy Fleming, who had been convicted of attempted murder and burglary arising out of this incident, testified at Appellant's trial. R. 110, lines 13-16. He claimed that when he and Appellant approached the apartment door, he, Jeremy, ran as soon as the door was opened. R. 110, line 22; R. 111, line 9; R. 115, lines 3-4. Jeremy had a prior conviction for assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature involving his entering a man's home and cutting off a man's fingers. R. 121, line 20 – R. 122, line 19.

2; R. 52, lines 15-16. The group then returned to the home shared² by Appellant and Jeremy where Jeremy threatened to kill anyone who spoke about the events of that evening. R. 24, line 22 – R. 25, line 3; R. 37, line 9 – R. 38, line 2; R. 54, lines 22-24; R. 55, lines 18-21; R. 112, lines 3-13. Jeremy also told Samantha, his girlfriend at the time, that he had “shot a dude in the head.” R. 43, lines 16-19. Several days later, Samantha and Taylor went to the police and gave statements incriminating Appellant and Jeremy in the shooting of Moran. R. 40, lines 4-20; R. 57, lines 19-23; R. 60, lines 15-24.

During the investigation, the police found a revolver at the home shared by Appellant and Jeremy. R. 76, lines 2-18; R. 77, lines 2-9. Additionally, the police found a pair of gloves with a skeleton design on them hidden behind the couch in the residence. R. 74, lines 10-16; R. 85, lines 17-23. Forensic testing on the gloves revealed the presence of gunshot residue. R. 108, lines 3-23

Sentencing

On July 23, 2013, the state served Appellant with notice of its intent to seek a sentence of life without parole if Appellant were convicted of burglary in the first degree and/or attempted murder. According to the state’s notice, Appellant had been convicted of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree, which would serve as a triggering offense of the recidivist statute. R. 178, line 3 – R. 179, line 7; R. 185.

Prior to the start of trial, Appellant moved to dismiss the state’s notice based on several theories, including separation of powers and the Eighth Amendment’s ban on cruel and unusual punishment in light of the remoteness of the prior offense. R. 3, line 15 – R. 4,

² Jeremy Fleming denied living in the residence. R. 109, line 24 – R. 110, line 2; R. 115, lines 15-17.

line 19. Specifically, Appellant objected to the prior conviction being used because “this matter is twenty years old” and occurred when Appellant was only seventeen-years old. R. 6, lines 20-21. The judge reserved ruling on the motion at that time. R. 6, lines 22-24.

At the conclusion of the presentation of evidence, the judge returned to Appellant’s argument regarding the constitutionality of the recidivist statute as applied in his case. The judge found the prior conviction was not “too remote to be included considering the legislative intent.” Thus, he permitted the state’s notice of intent to seek life imprisonment without the possibility of parole to stand. R. 137, line 6 – R. 138, line 2. Appellant renewed his motion after the state rested its case. R. 143, line 23 – R. 144, line 11. The judge again overruled the motion. R. 144, line 12 – Supp. R. 1, line 1.

During sentencing, Appellant again renewed his motion to prohibit the imposition of a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole; however, the judge overruled the motion again. R. 182, lines 15-25. The prosecutor provided the judge with a certified copy of a sentence sheet showing Appellant had been convicted on May 12, 1992 of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. R. 179, lines 14-24; R. 186. Thereafter, the judge sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment for attempted murder and burglary in the first degree. R. 183, line 25 – R. 184, line 7; R. 189; R. 192; R. 195.

Discussion

The recidivist statute under which Appellant was sentenced requires a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole if the person has one or more prior convictions for a most serious offense. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A)(1)(a). Attempted murder, burglary first degree, and criminal sexual conduct with a minor are “most serious

offenses” pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(1). Further, the statutory scheme invests discretionary authority in invoking the recidivist statute solely in the solicitor. S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(G). Finally, the statute defines “a prior or previous conviction” to mean “the defendant has been convicted of a most serious ... offense ... on a separate occasion, prior to the instant adjudication.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(F).

In State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 603 S.E.2d 910 (Ct. App. 2004), this Court addressed a defendant’s allegation that permitting remote convictions to serve as triggering offenses violated the federal constitution’s ban against cruel and unusual punishment. Specifically, this Court held that Rogers’ conviction nineteen years before the case in which the state sought to impose a life sentence did not violate the Eighth Amendment. Id. at 188, 603 S.E.2d at 915. In arriving at this conclusion, this Court relied upon State v. Burdette, 335 S.C. 34, 515 S.E.2d (1999) in which the Supreme Court affirmed a defendant’s life without parole sentence. Rogers, 361 S.C. at 188, 603 S.E.2d at 915. Notably, this Court explained the Supreme Court affirmed the sentence where the prior offense occurred seventeen years before the triggering offense. Id. However, the Burdette Court did not address whether the sentence imposed violated the Eighth Amendment based on the remoteness of the prior conviction; rather, the Court addressed whether the defendant received adequate notice of the charges against him and whether the recidivist statute violated the separation of powers doctrine. Burdette, 335 S.C. 37-38, 515 S.E.2d at 527. Thus, the premise of Rogers is flawed, and it is necessary to analyze whether using a remote prior conviction to enhance a sentence violates the Eighth Amendment.

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: “Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments

inflicted.” U.S. Const. amend. VIII. The Eighth Amendment is applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. Robinson v. United States, 370 U.S. 660 (1962).

“[W]hat constitutes cruel and unusual punishment, and thus, what violates the Eighth Amendment, is determined by ‘evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.’” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 562, 647 S.E.2d 144, 162 (2007). Likewise, the “‘proportionality’ bedrock of the Eighth Amendment jurisprudence” is equally as important. Id. at 564-565, 647 S.E.2d at 163. “It is a precept of justice that punishment for crime should be graduated and proportioned to [the] offense.” Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 311 (2002). “The Eighth Amendment’s prohibition of cruel and unusual punishment ‘guarantees individuals the right not to be subjected to excessive sanctions.’” Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455, 2463 (2012)(quoting Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 560 (2005)). The Miller Court emphasized that “proportionality is central to the Eighth Amendment.” Id. (quoting Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48(2010)).

The United States Supreme Court has held a state may punish a recidivist more severely than it punishes a first offender. Witte v. United States, 515 U.S. 389, 400 (1995). However, in order to pass constitutional muster, “the enhanced punishment imposed for the [present] offense ‘is not to be viewed as ... [an] additional penalty for the earlier crimes,’ but instead as ‘a stiffened penalty for the latest crime, which is considered to be an aggravated offense because a repetitive one.’” Id. (quoting Gryger v. Burke, 334 U.S. 728, 732 (1948)); see also Moore v. Missouri, 159 U.S. 673, 677 (1895)(explaining that under a recidivist statute, the punishment for the last offense is “‘rendered more severe in consequence of the situation into which the party had previously brought himself’”).

Legislation aimed at recidivism attempts to encourage offenders to stay out of trouble by punishing those who refuse to be deterred even after a conviction. Commonwealth v. Eyster, 585 A.2d 1027 (Pa. Super. Ct. 1991). A recidivist is a person who continues to commit criminal acts after incarceration for an earlier offense, and recidivist statutes punish those who show they are incorrigible. Shannon Thorne, One Strike and You're Out: Double Counting and Dual Use Undermines the Purpose of California's Three-Strikes Law, 34 U.S.F.L. Rev. 99 (1999).

Using a conviction that is very old does nothing to fulfill the deterrent purpose of recidivist statutes. Here, the conviction used to enhance Appellant's sentence was two decades old and involved criminal conduct completely unlike the conduct for which he was being sentenced. If the legislature sought to deter continued criminal conduct through enactment of the recidivist statute, then the scenario presented in the instant matter could not have come within the realm of contemplation. Appellant was convicted of attempted murder and burglary, but his sentence for those offenses was enhanced by his conviction for criminal sexual conduct with a minor when he was only seventeen-years old. The alleged criminal conduct was quite dissimilar. Further, Appellant had been deterred from engaging in serious criminal activity for over twenty years. His subsequent conviction for attempted murder and burglary twenty years later could not be construed as the actions of a man who was incorrigible. Rather, Appellant had learned from his prior conduct as exemplified by his not engaging in serious criminal activity during that period. South Carolina imposes time restrictions when considering recidivism in other contexts and should do so in the two strikes and three strikes arena as well. See S.C. Code Ann. § 56-1-1020 (defining a habitual offender as one who has accumulated the enumerated convictions during a three-year

period); S.C. Code Ann. § 44-53-470 (imposing time limits for “second or subsequent” offenses for the drug laws); S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2930(E)(restricting enhanced sentences for driving under the influence to those convictions occurring within a period of ten years).

CONCLUSION

Appellant respectfully requests this Court vacate his sentences for attempted murder and burglary in the first degree and remand for a new sentencing proceeding on those convictions.