STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Horry County
Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-002075

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ABDUL FURQUAN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843) 915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The trial judge properly sentenced Appellant to a sentence of life without parole pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 after Appellant was convicted of a second “most serious” offense during his lifetime, and the enhancement of Appellant’s sentence based on his prior 1992 conviction for a “most serious” offense did not render his life without parole sentence unconstitutional in any way.

Appellant contends his sentence of life without parole imposed after he was convicted of a second “most serious” offense during his lifetime constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. In support of that contention, Appellant maintains the trial judge was constitutionally forbidden from sentencing him to a mandatory sentence of life without parole because his prior “most serious” conviction was “very old” and, for that reason, allegedly could not have properly been used to enhance his sentence for his most recent crimes. Contrary to Appellant’s contentions, there is no constitutional prohibition against using a remote prior conviction for a “most serious” offense to enhance the sentence of an offender who chose to continue engaging in criminal conduct and committed a second “most serious” offense during his lifetime. In fact, consideration of prior convictions for “most serious” offenses regardless of their age is fully consistent with the underlying purpose of South Carolina’s recidivist offender statute, which was enacted to deter repeat offenders and protect society by incapacitating offenders who engage in serious criminal behavior on more than one occasion during their lifetimes. Therefore, the trial judge properly and correctly sentenced Appellant to life without parole pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 after Appellant, who was a recidivist offender due to his prior conviction for the “most serious” offense of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, was subsequently convicted of the “most serious” offenses of first-degree burglary and attempted murder. As a result, the trial judge committed no error in sentencing Appellant to life without parole for the “most serious”

crimes he most recently committed, and Appellant's sentence did not violate the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment in any way. Appellant's convictions and sentence should be affirmed.

In criminal cases, a trial judge has broad discretion in imposing a sentence within the statutory limits. State v. Sidell, 262 S.C. 397, 398, 205 S.E.2d 2, 3 (1974); see State v. Hicks, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008) ("A judge or other sentencing authority is to be accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence, and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed."). Generally, appellate courts will only interfere with the discretion of a judge in the imposition of a sentence in rare and unusual circumstances. State v. Ferguson, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952). "Absent partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive, [the appellate court] lacks jurisdiction to disturb a sentence that is within the limits prescribed by statute." State v. Barton, 325 S.C. 522, 531, 481 S.E.2d 439, 444 (Ct. App. 1997).

Notwithstanding a trial judge's authority to impose a sentence falling within the statutory limits, both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution preclude a criminal defendant from being subjected to cruel and unusual punishment. See U.S. Const. amend. VIII ("Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted."); S.C. Const. art. I, § 15 ("Excessive bail shall not be required, nor shall excessive fines be imposed, nor shall cruel, nor corporal, nor unusual punishment be inflicted, nor shall witnesses be unreasonably detained."). Pursuant to those constitutional provisions, punishments must not be "inherently barbaric" and must be graduated and proportioned to the offense.

Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 59 (2011); see Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304, 311 (2002) (instructing it is a precept of justice punishment for a crime should be graduated and proportioned to the offense). However, the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment does **not** require strict proportionality between the offense and the sentence. Harmelin v. Michigan, 501 U.S. 957, 1001 (1991). Instead, “it forbids only extreme sentences that are ‘grossly disproportionate’ to the crime.” Id. (citations omitted).

In general, there are two classifications of cases involving challenges raised pursuant to the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment: (1) cases involving a case-specific challenge to a term-of-years sentence based on the circumstances of a particular case; and (2) cases involving a categorical challenge to a particular sentencing practice. Graham, 560 U.S. at 59. On one hand, the appropriate analysis in cases involving a case-specific challenge involves first comparing the gravity of the offense to the severity of the sentence imposed. Harmelin, 501 U.S. at 1004-1005. Then, if that comparison leads to an inference of “gross” disproportionality, the court should compare the defendant’s sentence to the sentences of offenders who committed the same offense in the defendant’s jurisdiction along with the sentences of offenders who committed the same offense in other jurisdictions to determine if the defendant’s sentence actually was grossly disproportionate to his crime. Id. at 1005. Importantly though, no single factor is dispositive in the proportionality analysis. See Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277, 291, n. 17 (1983) (“[N]o single criterion can identify when a sentence is so grossly disproportionate that it violates the Eighth Amendment.”). On the other hand, the appropriate analysis in cases involving a categorical challenge to a particular sentencing practice involves the court first considering objective indicia of society’s standards to determine whether a national consensus exists against the challenged sentencing practice. Graham, 560 U.S.

at 61; see also Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958) (“The Amendment must draw its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.”). In making that determination, the court should look to legislation enacted by the legislatures in the United States because the clearest and most reliable expression of society’s contemporary values can be derived from such legislation. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 563, 647 S.E.2d 144, 162 (2007). Furthermore, the court making such a determination should remember that “[i]t is not the burden of the state to establish a national consensus approving what their citizens have voted to do; rather, it is the heavy burden of the defendant to establish a national consensus against it.” State v. Williams, 380 S.C. 336, 347, 669 S.E.2d 640, 646 (Ct. App. 2008); see Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 175 (1976) (“[I]n assessing a punishment selected by a democratically elected legislature against the constitutional measure, we presume its validity. We may not require the legislature to select the least severe penalty possible so long as the penalty selected is not cruelly inhumane or disproportionate to the crime involved. And a heavy burden rests on those who would attack the judgment of the representatives of the people.”). Next, after determining whether a national consensus exists against a particular sentencing practice, the court “must determine in the exercise of its own independent judgment whether the punishment in question violates the Constitution.” Graham, 560 U.S. at 61. Critically, that determination should be “guided by ‘the standards elaborated by controlling precedents and by the Court’s own understanding and interpretation of the Eighth Amendment’s text, history, meaning, and purpose[.]’ ” Id. (quoting Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407, 421 (2008)).

In the case sub judice, Appellant was convicted of the “most serious” offenses of first-degree burglary and attempted murder after he had previously been convicted of the

“most serious” offense of second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor on a separate occasion in 1992. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(C)(1) (identifying first-degree burglary, attempted murder, and criminal sexual conduct with a minor as “most serious” offenses). Under those circumstances, Appellant qualified as a recidivist offender in South Carolina, and the trial judge was required to sentence Appellant to a term of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole pursuant to our recidivist offender statute. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A)(1) (mandating a person convicted of a “most serious” offense who has previously been convicted of a “most serious” offense on a separate earlier occasion at some point during that person’s lifetime **must** be sentenced to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole). Accordingly, the trial judge properly sentenced Appellant to a term of imprisonment consistent with the sentencing limits established by the legislature for his offenses under the circumstances of his case. See State v. Conally, 227 S.C. 507, 510, 88 S.E.2d 591, 593 (1955) (“This court has no jurisdiction to disturb, because of alleged excessiveness, a sentence which is within the limits prescribed by statute, unless: (a) the statute itself violates the constitutional injunction . . . against cruel and unusual punishment, or (b) the sentence is the result of partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive.”).

Despite that fact, Appellant contends on appeal his sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole was unconstitutional because it allegedly constitutes cruel and unusual punishment. In making that contention, it is unclear from Appellant’s appellate argument whether he is raising a challenge to his individual sentence based on the specific circumstances of his case or raising a categorical challenge to South Carolina’s recidivist offender statute based on the fact it does not restrict a sentencing judge from considering prior convictions that are “remote.” Regardless of the grounds

upon which Appellant is challenging his sentence on appeal, Appellant's sentence of life without parole did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment.

Initially, to the extent Appellant is raising a challenge to his individual sentence based on the specific circumstances of his case, Appellant's sentence of life without parole clearly did not violate the constitutional prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment. Critically, by carrying out his most recent crimes, Appellant committed a number of "grave" offenses that – irrespective of the fact they were committed by a recidivist offender – exposed him to a maximum potential term of imprisonment of life imprisonment plus thirty-five years even without the application of any statutory sentencing enhancement provisions. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (mandating a sentence of up to thirty years for attempted murder); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311 (mandating a term of imprisonment of fifteen years to life for first-degree burglary); S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-500 (mandating a sentence of up to five years for unlawful possession of a firearm by a person convicted of a violent offense). Considering those circumstances coupled with the fact Appellant was not a first-time offender and, instead, had previously committed a "most serious" offense along with numerous other offenses during his lifetime, his aggregate individual sentence of life without parole was in no way disproportionate – or grossly disproportionate – to the horrendous crimes he most recently committed and did not constitute cruel and unusual punishment despite the fact Appellant had not been convicted of any other "most serious" offenses since 1992. See State v. White, 349 S.C. 33, 37, 562 S.E.2d 305, 306-307 (2002) ("Given that a life sentence is possible for even first offense first-degree burglary convictions, a life sentence without parole for a recidivist with one or more previous convictions of most serious offenses does not constitute cruel and unusual punishment."); see also United

States v. Rodriguez, 553 U.S. 377, 385 (2008) (“[A]n offense committed by a repeat offender is often thought to reflect greater culpability and thus to merit a greater punishment. Similarly, a second or subsequent offense is often regarded as more serious because it portends greater future danger and therefore warrants an increased sentence for purposes of deterrence and incapacitation.”); Lockyer v. Andrade, 538 U.S. 63, 76 (2003) (“The gross disproportionality principle reserves a constitutional violation for only the extraordinary case.”); State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 188, 603 S.E.2d 910, 915 (Ct. App. 2004) (rejecting Rogers’s contention his life without parole sentence constituted cruel and unusual punishment due to the fact his earlier “most serious” conviction occurred nineteen years earlier); see generally Ewing v. California, 538 U.S. 11, 25 (2003) (“Recidivism has long been recognized as a legitimate basis for increased punishment.”); Solem, 463 U.S. at 296 (“[A] State is justified in punishing a recidivist more severely than it punishes a first offender.”).

Likewise, to the extent Appellant is raising a categorical challenge to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 based on the fact it permits consideration of a prior conviction for enhancement purposes regardless of the age of the prior conviction, South Carolina’s recidivist offender statute is not unconstitutional and was not applied in an unconstitutional manner in Appellant’s case. Significantly, South Carolina’s recidivist offender statute – like numerous other recidivist offender statutes enacted by legislatures throughout the history of the United States – was designed to deter and incapacitate recidivist offenders who demonstrate their danger to society by engaging in criminal behavior on multiple occasions **throughout their lifetimes**. See Rummel v. Estelle, 445 U.S. 263, 284 (1980) (“[The] primary goals of [a recidivist statute] are to deter repeat offenders and, at some point **in the life of** one who repeatedly commits criminal offenses

serious enough to be punished as felonies, to segregate that person from the rest of society for an extended period of time.” (emphasis added)); see also Parke v. Raley, 506 U.S. 20, 26 (1992) (“Statutes that punish recidivists more severely than first offenders have a long tradition in this country that dates back to colonial times.”). Logically, the statute’s goals of deterrence and incapacitation are not served by ignoring a prior “most serious” offense of an offender such as Appellant, who earned a substantial prison as a result of his prior conviction, simply because of the age of that offense. See State v. Jones, 187 W. Va. 600, 604, 420 S.E.2d 736, 740 (W. Va. 1992) (“Common sense would dictate that the age of a prior conviction should have little bearing in a recidivist proceeding, when the underlying purpose of the statute is considered. . . . Obviously, when the life recidivist statute is invoked, the defendant will have at least two prior felony convictions. If they are serious felonies, the defendant will have served lengthy prison sentences. This means that at the time of the life recidivist trial, one or more of the earlier convictions may be rather old. Yet, the deterrent purpose of the recidivist statute would hardly be served if earlier felony convictions could be excluded because of their age.”). Critically, the fact Appellant failed to modify his criminal behavior following his earlier term of imprisonment, which was over a decade long, and continued to engage in repetitive criminal behavior before committing two more “most serious” offenses demonstrates exactly why a life without parole sentence was warranted in his case and why consideration of his full criminal history versus some smaller sample of it was necessary towards determining an appropriate punishment for him based on his increased level of personal culpability.⁶ For those reasons, neither Appellant’s sentence nor the

⁶ Significantly, Appellant’s prior sentence for his crimes in 1992 was a sixteen-year term of imprisonment. As reflected in the sentencing sheet from his conviction for second-degree criminal sexual conduct with a minor, Appellant received a ten-year sentence consecutive to another sentence. (R. p. 186). As reflected

provisions of S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45 permitting consideration of a prior conviction regardless of its age were unconstitutional, and Appellant wholly failed to establish a national consensus exists against the sentencing practices applied in his case. See Oyler v. Boles, 368 U.S. 448, 451 (1962) (“[T]he constitutionality of the practice of inflicting severer criminal penalties upon habitual offenders is no longer open to serious challenge[.]”); see also State v. Jones, 344 S.C. 48, 58, 543 S.E.2d 541, 546 (2001) (“When the issue is the constitutionality of a statute, every presumption will be made in favor of its validity and no statute will be declared unconstitutional unless its invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no doubt that it conflicts with the constitution.”); cf. State v. Snyder, 426 N.W.2d 662, 663 (Iowa Ct. App. 1988) (affirming the enhancement of a criminal sentence pursuant to a recidivist offender statute based on the existence of nineteen-year-old and seventeen-year-old prior felony convictions and rejecting the contention “the absence of a time limit on the use of previous felony convictions in a habitual offender determination constitutes cruel and unusual punishment”); State v. Sullivan, 644 S.W.2d 429, 430 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1982) (“The State appeals from a ruling of the trial court dismissing a habitual criminal charge against the defendant on the ground that one of the convictions alleged in the recidivist count was, in effect, too remote to demonstrate ‘habituality.’ . . . The determination of who is to be punished as a habitual criminal is obviously a legislative prerogative. The Tennessee legislature has defined habitual criminality in terms of the number and type of prior convictions that a

in the records contained in the Horry County Public Index, the other sentence to which Appellant’s ten-year sentence was ordered to run consecutively was a six-year sentence for a burglary offense. Records for Tyrone Jenkins, Horry County Fifteenth Judicial Circuit Public Index, <http://publicindex.sccourts.org/Horry/PublicIndex>. Thus, although Appellant contends on appeal he learned from his prior conduct by going a substantial period of time without engaging in “serious criminal activity,” the fact Appellant did not engage in criminal activity for a portion of the time between his earlier “most serious” offense and his most recent “most serious” offenses was largely attributable to the fact Appellant was incarcerated for a substantial period of time during that span.

person has received. Nothing in the definitional section of the statute suggests that the legislature intended to apply a time limitation to the calculation of the qualifying convictions, and we know of no authority granted to the trial court by the legislature to make a ‘policy’ determination such as the one attempted here.” (citation omitted)).

In conclusion, the use of a prior “most serious” conviction for sentencing enhancement purposes – regardless of when during the offender’s lifetime that offense was committed – serves the legitimate penological goals of discouraging and preventing the commission of crimes by habitual offenders and is entirely proper under both the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution. See Solem, 463 U.S. at 296 (recognizing recidivist offenders can be more severely punished than first-time offenders). Therefore, the statutory enhancement of Appellant’s sentence based on his prior “most serious” conviction from 1992 was not unconstitutional, and there was no legitimate reason for the trial judge to ignore Appellant’s prior conviction when considering Appellant’s sentence for his most recent crimes. See generally State v. Brannon, 341 S.C. 271, 280-281, 533 S.E.2d 345, 350 (Ct. App. 2000) (“[T]he severity of the crimes enumerated in § 17-25-45(C)(1) . . . brings a life sentence without possibility of parole within the constitutional bounds of the Eighth Amendment.”). Because Appellant’s sentence was not unconstitutional and was a statutorily proper sentence for his offenses, the trial judge committed no error in sentencing Appellant to life without parole. See S.C. Code Ann. § 17-25-45(A) (mandating a sentencing judge must sentence a defendant to life imprisonment without parole upon conviction for a “most serious” offense when that defendant has either one or more prior convictions for a “most serious” offense or two or more prior convictions for a “serious” offense). Appellant’s convictions and sentence should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.